# COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCORSECEIVED

DISTRICT II

05-29-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

V.

Appeal No. 2015AP000161 - CR

WILLIAM J. THURBER,

Defendant-Appellant.

### DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF-IN-CHIEF

Appeal from the circuit court for Winnebago County, Honorable Daniel J. Bissett, Judge.

SCZYGELSKI & PANGBURN LAW FIRM, LLC.
Ralph J. Sczygelski
State Bar No. 01001417
713 Washington Street
Manitowoc, Wisconsin 54220
Telephone: 920-682-9990
Email: Ralphwislaw@sbcglobal.net

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

##

INTRODUCTION
STATEMENT OF ISSUES
POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
ARGUMENTS
I. THE COURT SHOULD HAVE ALLOWED MELISSA BLANK TO TESTIFY FOR THE DEFENSE DESPITE THE FACT THAT MELISSA BLANK WAS NOT NAMED ON A LIST OF WITNESSES
II. ATTORNEY CARVER SHOULD BE FOUND INEFFECTIVE
A. ATTORNEY CARVER SHOULD HAVE PROVIDED NOTICE THAT MELISSA BLANK WOULD TESTIFY45
B. ATTORNEY CARVER SHOULD HAVE CALLED ANDREW LUTZOW TO TESTIFY
C. ATTORNEY CARVER SHOULD HAVE OBTAINED AND USED THE SURVEILLANCE VIDEO
D. ATTORNEY CARVER SHOULD HAVE CONSULTED MORE WITH THURBER. 47
E.THE ACCUMULATION OF ERRORS JUSTIFIES A NEW TRIAL47
CONCLUSION
FORM AND LENGTH CERTIFICATION49
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 809.19(12)50
CEDUTET CAUTON 51

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## State Citations

Kutchera vs. State
69 Wis. 2d 534, 230 N.W.2d 750 (1975)
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u>
State v. Johnson
State v. Jeannie M. P
<u>State v. Delgado</u>
State v. Lindh
State v. Glass
State v. Eckert
State v. McMahon
State v. Thiel
State v. Moffett
State vs. Zimmerman
State Statutes
Section 971.23(2m)(a)
Sec. 971.23(7m)

#### INTRODUCTION

This case involves twelve robberies of vacation campers at a storage unit. Various items were stolen, including big screen TVs. A co-defendant, Jacob Kent, initially gave a statement to police that William Thurber had been involved. At trial, Jacob Kent ("Kent") recanted, stating that William Thurber ("Thurber") was not involved, and that he only named Thurber as a co-actor in the robberies because police told Kent that Thurber had implicated Kent in other robberies. No other evidence put Thurber at the crime scene.

A four camera security system was in place at the storage site where the twelve campers were parked. Due to some failed attempts to upgrade the system, the cameras that were pointed at the campers were not working the night of the robberies. Amazingly, Andrew Lutzow, the individual hired to upgrade the security system, was seen going into the storage area at approximately 1:00 a.m. on the night of the robberies. The cameras that were pointed at the robbery site were clearly visible, yet only Andrew Lutzow would have known that those cameras were not working that night. Andrew Lutzow was never charged with a crime, and, at the first Post-conviction Motion Hearing, requested immunity for testifying. Little of this was heard by the jury because Melissa Blank, the onsite storage manager, was not allowed to testify due to the fact that Attorney Caroline Carver neglected to disclose her as a potential witness.

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Should Judge Bisset have allowed Melissa Blank to testify for the defense despite the fact that Melissa Blank was not named on a list of witnesses?
  - Trial court answered in the negative.
- 2. Should Attorney Carver be found ineffective for various reasons, including for her failure to provide notice that Melissa Blank was going to be testifying?

Trial court answered in the negative.

### POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The appellant requests oral argument in order to help define the issues presented. Given the need for written brevity, oral argument may be a chance for needed explanation.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Criminal Complaint was filed on June 7, 2011, charging Thurber with twenty-four counts of Burglary-Motor/Trailer Home on twelve separate motor homes. (C.R. 1). An Initial appearance was held on June 20, 2011 and a Prelim was set for July 14th. (C.R. 56). Jacob Kent was called as a witness, and refused to testify despite being was offered immunity. (C.R. 58, pg. 3-5 line 20) Detective Jagla was then called beginning on page 7, and relayed that Kent had given a statement previously implicating Thurber in the robberies. (C.R. 58, pg. 11, lines 21-25 thrupg. 13, lines 1-6). An Information

was then filed (listing identical counts as the Complaint) on July 21, 2011. (C.R. 3) The Information was then amended several times with the Fifth Amendment being filed on May 24, 2012. (C.R. 16).

## JURY TRIAL (Day 1, September 10, 2012)

The Jury Trial began on September 10, 2012. A discussion regarding other acts evidence was as follows:

As to the next motion that was filed by the State, there was a motion for other acts evidence testimony at trial, and this specifically involved allegations of a series of the burglaries in Outagamie County in the same timeframe as this case. And the State is asking that it be used to show motive, plan, identity. . . (C.R. 71, pg. 10, lines 15-22).

After argument, the Judge put off his decision until Officer Carpenter testified the next morning. (C.R. 71, pg. 16, lines 10-19).

After jury selection and the prosecution's opening statement, witnesses began on page 97. It should be pointed out that each victim testified briefly about the damage to their motor homes, the items stolen, and the lack of any permission to do so.

Officer Schramfer's began on page 146. During his crossexamination, the issue of surveillance arose for the first time:

- Q: To the best of your recollection, did you see any footage from any security cameras of this area?
- A: I didn't that day. I'm not sure if I saw some at some point later or not.
- (C.R. 71, pg. 151, lines 22-25).

Jacob Kent began testifying on page 165, relevant portions of

#### which are as follows:

Q: And Mr. Kent, I'd like to call your attention to the early morning hours of July 22, 2010. Did you go to the American Mini Storage located in the City of Menasha, Winnebago County, Wisconsin?

A: No, not on that day.

Q: Were you ever at the American Mini Storage?

A: Yep.

Q: When was that?

A: Probably anywhere from the 10<sup>th</sup> through the 17<sup>th</sup> maybe.

Q: Of July?

A: July, maybe even before that.

Q: And who was with you when you went there?

A: I was by myself at the time.

(C.R. 71, pg. 165, lines 14-25 thru pg. 166, lines 1-3).

Q: And were you also acquainted with the defendant?

A: Not really. Work-wise, yes.

Q: Now, I'd like to call your attention - - Well, let's say - - You said you went to the American Mini Storage. What did you do when you got there?

A: I broke into a couple RVs, took a couple things, went home, did some drugs.

Q: And how many RVs did you break into?

A: I don't know. I couldn't tell you that.

(C.R. 71, pg. 166, lines 22-25 thru pg. 167, lines 1-3).

Q: And did you tell Detective Tauber and Deputy Carpenter that you had been at your residence when William Thurber came and got you? Do you remember telling them that?

A: No, I don't remember telling him that.

(C.R. 71, pq. 168, lines 5-9).

- Q: Didn't you tell Deputy Carpenter that the defendant came and got you at your residence to help him with the removal of TVs and other items from RVs at American Mini Storage?
- A: I don't remember.

. . .

- Q: Do you remember telling Detective Carpenter that the defendant William Thurber had broken into all of the units and gotten the TVs and other items all set for you to come and pick up?
- A: No, I don't remember that.
- Q: Do you remember telling Detective Tauber and Deputy Carpenter that you went to American Mini Storage in the defendant's truck?
- A: No.
- Q: Do you remember telling them that you went into all of the vehicles and that you didn't do any damage to the vehicles because the defendant had done all of the damage before?
- A: No, I don't.
- (C.R. 71, pg. 168, lines 17-25 thru pg. 169, lines 1-13).

Kent's written statement was then entered as Exhibit 13. (C.R. 71, pg. 183, line 8 thru pg. 184, line 22). The statement was read as follows:

A: "Billy Thurber called me up to help him move some stuff. When we got there it was motor homes. I grabbed about a dozen TVs out for him. He had this plan before I got there. All the motor homes were broke into already before I got there. I only had to open the doors. The TVs were right there next to the doors." . . .

(C.R. 71, pg. 185, lines 8-20).

On cross, Kent admitted he had a motive to lie against Thurber:

Q: Do you recall ever making a statement to Officer Jagla that when you got released if you saw William Thurber on the street you would kill him?

A: I don't recall saying it but it probably was said. I'm not sure.

Q: Well, how angry were you when you made this statement?

A: I was angry.

Q: Angry enough to lie?

A: Oh, yes.

Q: Angry enough to get him in trouble?

A: Yes.

Q: Angry enough to get him charged with things that he may not have committed?

A: Yes.

(C.R. 71, pg. 188, lines 13-25 thru pg. 189, line 1).

Kent also admitted that he was threatened by the State to give cooperating testimony against Thurber:

Q: Now, you indicated you had conversations with the State before you testified here today?

A: Yes, I did.

Q: And were those conversations in relation to what you would testify here today as?

A: Yep.

Q: Were you promised or threatened in any way for your testimony here today?

A: I would say a threat, yes.

Q: Do you want to explain that, please?

A: Well, they told me, this gentleman right here in the suit -- assistant DA, whatever -- he told me that if I didn't come here today and testify against the co-defendant or the man standing trial that I would be prosecuted for these charges, and, to me, I believe that's a threat. I'm trying to tell the truth I did these burglaries on my own and he don't believe me now. He kept saying William Thurber put you in prison for your next 12 years. No, Mr. Thurber didn't put me in prison. I put myself here for the next 12 years. And he kept telling me that if I didn't get up here to testify on his behalf that I was going to be charged with these charges, not only me, some of my family members, my - - my child's mother would be charged on something, too. Tried to - - how would you say that - - tick me off in a way or something.

(C.R. 71, pg. 189, lines 14-25 thru pg. 190, lines 1-14).

Based upon Carver's cross-examination, the State brought a motion to introduce the Outagamie County issues that were the subject of other acts evidence that the Judge originally stated he would hold open the following morning. The Judge ruled that he would continue to hold that decision open until the next day. (C.R. 71, pg. 193, line 25 thru pg. 197, line 18).

Detective Jagla then began testifying on page 199. On cross-examination, he briefly testified in a vague way about inadequacies in the security system:

- Q: Do you recall if during your investigation of the scene you became aware at any time that there were video cameras present on the scene?
- A: Yes.
- Q: And who were those cameras operated by?
- A: The management of this storage unit facility.
- Q: Do you recall how many cameras there were?

- A: I do not. Two or three, I believe.
- Q: Do you recall what areas those cameras recorded?
- A: One was when you initially came in, should have gotten all traffic going by and entering the gate. Then there was another camera on a pole in the back so if you came in and turned and went towards the back you would also have been videotaped. Those two I remember for sure.
- Q: The camera in the back, would it be fair to say, had a view of these motor homes and trailers?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Did you recover any footage or tapings from these cameras in your investigation?
- A: Yes.
- Q: What did you recover?
- A: I was given a CD of the timeframe that this was supposed to have covered.
- Q: And what timeframe was that, do you recall?
- A: It would have been the night before the burglaries had been reported.
- Q: And was that from both cameras or just one?
- A: I believe one of them was not working. There was only one working and that was the one by the gate.
- Q: So did you recover any footage then from the back camera?
- A: I want to say I recovered some video from Banta's (a neighbor's business). That covers their parking lot area that could have seen into the mini storage area.
- Q: That's another camera, though, on another property though, correct?
- A: Yes, it would have been.
- Q: As far as the back camera at the American Mini Storage place, any footage recovered from that camera?

- A: No.
- Q: Do you recall why?
- A: Something about - And the girl at the office (Melissa Blank) could not explain to me why it went down. That actually made me suspect the guy that was repairing it (Andrew Lutzow) as being one of the suspects in this. I looked into him because of the way that this camera system stopped working that night and then a week's worth of video footage had been erased.
- Q: How did that week's worth of video footage get erased?
- A: She couldn't explain it to me.
- Q: To your knowledge, was that video footage ever in the hands of this I guess you indicate an individual you initially suspected as being involved?
- A: No, not that I'm aware of.
- Q: Who was this individual?
- A: I do not recall his name. He was working on the system prior to our getting this call.
- Q: So he was responsible for installing and managing that system, correct?
- A: Or repairing it, yes. They had some issues with it.
- Q: Now, do you recall the front camera that would show entrance and exits of individuals? Do you recall viewing footage from that camera?
- A: Yes.
- Q: And do you recall seeing somebody enter the premises probably the evening that these are alleged to have occurred at 1:30 in the morning, 1:30 AM?
- A: I know I looked at a lot of video footage, and I recall I believe a pick-up truck and then a Ford or a Mercury vehicle, yes.
- Q: Did you trace that pick-up truck in any way?

- A: I don't believe so, no. I don't think it was a good enough picture.
- Q: There was no follow-up done on that pick-up entering the premises?
- A: Not that I recall.
- Q: Well, let me ask you this: Was that the vehicle that entered the premises at 1:30 am?
- A: I don't know.
- Q: Is there anything that would refresh your recollection?
- A: If it was in my report.

. . .

Q: You are correct and I stand corrected. I'd like to mark another exhibit at this time. I apologize. I'm going to hand you what's been marked as Defense Exhibit B. I'm going to have you look at that document in its entirety and let me know when you're done.

. . .

Q: I'm going to retrieve that document from you. And now I ask you: Do you have any recollection at this point about a black pick-up truck entering the premises on July 22<sup>nd</sup>, 2010, at 1:30 AM?

MR. BALSKUS: Objection, Your Honor. Basically, what she has done is she's talking about a conversation that the officer had with another individual, so it's hearsay. Talking to a person named Melissa. So I don't think that this officer can testify as to what another individual told him unless it falls under exception for hearsay.

**THE COURT:** Miss Carver?

MS. CARVER: I'm not eliciting any hearsay, Judge. I'm just asking what this lead investigator found in his investigation.

**THE COURT:** I'd ask you to rephrase the question.

Q: Do you recall any knowledge or learning of any black vehicle that may have entered the premises on that evening

MR. BALSKUS: Objection, Your Honor. It's hearsay, and there's no foundation.

THE COURT: I'll allow that question. You may answer.

A: I do not specifically recall viewing a black pick-up truck on the video at 1:30. She - - that's Melissa, the employee in the office where these travel trailers are stored - advised me of that and then she's the one that gave me the name of Andy Lutzow, I believe. They called him and he was the one supposedly fixing the system. And I believe it was between there and or after that that I received a call from Ryan Carpenter who directed our attention towards Thurber and Kent, therefore making it unnecessary for me to further up or follow up further with this possible suspect here.

Q: So to your knowledge, was this pick-up truck identified as being operated by this Andy Lutzow?

MR. BALSKUS: Objection, Your Honor, foundation, who identified it.

THE COURT: I'd ask you to lay some foundation.

Q: In your investigation of these robberies - - and this is before you were notified by Outagamie County of Mr. Kent and possibly Mr. Thurber - - did you ask the employee - - or I should say, right - - the employee of American Mini Storage to review their cameras for any footage that may help you in your investigation?

A: Yes.

Q: And are you aware of that person doing that?

A: Well, we had that conversation where she would have - -

MR. BALSKUS: Your Honor, I'm going to objection based on hearsay.

THE COURT: Sustained.

Q: Who was the employee that you asked to do this?

A: All I recall is Melissa.

Q: To the best of your knowledge, do you know if she reviewed the footage of those cameras?

MR. BALSKUS: Objection.

MS. CARVER: I'm not asking for hearsay, Judge, what was or what wasn't reviewed. I'm just asking if he knows.

MR. BALSKUS: And how is he going to know if she did it?

THE COURT: I'll sustain the objection.

Q: Did you ever have contact with Melissa Blank after you learned of these video cameras?

A: I could have.

Q: You were aware of the video cameras - - You were aware that some type of footage was recovered. Is that correct?

A: Yes.

Q: Did you do any follow-up based on that information?

A: Yes. That was that Mercury Marquis that we tracked down and talked to the owners and found out that they were interested in renting some storage units there.

Q: How about Andy Lutzow, did you do any follow-up with Andy Lutzow?

A: No, I did not.

Q: And, again, your knowledge of Andy Lutzow is what?

MR. BALSKUS: Objection, Your Honor, relevance, and also calls for hearsay.

THE COURT: I'll allow that in. You may answer.

Q: Do you know who Andy Lutzow is?

A: She only described him as a - -

Q: No. I mean, who is he? Who is he? Like, do you know personally who Andy Lutzow is?

A: No, I did not.

Q: Nobody ever in your entire investigation ever advised you of Andy Lutzow or who he may be? I just testified before

A: Yes.

MR. BALSKUS: Objection, Your Honor. It calls for hearsay. (C.R. 71, pg. 211, lines 17-25 thru pg. 220, lines 1-25).

The Court then adjourned until the next day.

## JURY TRIAL (Day 2, September 11, 2012)

The second day began with Sergeant Carpenter testifying outside the presence of the jury that Kent had been involved in burglaries outside of Winnebago County in the past, and that Kent provided initial information about these robberies. (C.R. 72, pg. 3-13).

After argument, Judge Bissett ruled as follows:

In looking at other acts evidence and its admissibility, the Court is to utilize a three-step framework that has been spelled out fairly clearly in the case of State vs Sullivan, 216 Wisconsin  $2^{nd}$ , 768. . . .

. . . .

In this case, the other acts evidence involves burglary, Outagamie County, similar timeframe, storage units; although it appears in those cases primarily the units themselves, and in the case before this jury involving RVs - - trailers - - at a storage unit facility. Involves the same - - allegedly the same two individuals. The same or similar type of plan, at least as provided to the officer through Mr. Kent.

. . . .

So I do find - And the State vs. Sullivan case also indicates that the court must carefully articulate the reasons for the admissions, which I believe that I have in this case. And, based upon that, I believe that the other acts evidence should be admitted for the purpose of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation or plan.

. . . .

As to the officer of Mr. Kent testifying regarding statements involving the Outagamie County matters, I do think

that those are admissible as other acts, so I will allow those statements in.

(C.R. 72, pg. 18, lines 15-25 thru pg. 25, lines 1-21).

Officer Carpenter began testifying before the jury on page 28.

On cross, Attorney Carver was able to ask a series of questions that substantiated Mr. Kent's motive to implicate Mr. Thurber:

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