## **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN (

08-26-2015

# COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**DISTRICT II** 

Case No. 2015AP161-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM J. THURBER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND DECISION AND ORDER DENYING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WINNEBAGO COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DANIEL J. BISSETT, PRESIDING

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

previously suppressed DNA evidence tying Thurber and Kent to the scene (74:70).

That said, Carver stated that she later sought to have Blank testify because she thought that Jagla had denied talking with Blank, which had "surprised" her (74:44-45). Carver admitted that had Blank testified, the defense theory that someone else did it "would have been stronger," (74:49). But Carver also acknowledged that she would have had Blank explain that several cameras were broken, that she told police that, and the police did not follow up, all of which was information that Carver acknowledged was in police report and that the jury heard through Jagla's testimony (74:67).

The circuit court held that Carver was not ineffective for not naming Blank as a witness during discovery (76:6-8). It reviewed Jagla's trial testimony and Blank's *Machner* testimony and concluded that "it doesn't appear that there would have been anything of value that she would have added to trial" (76:7-8).

The circuit court's factual findings were not clearly erroneous, and its legal conclusion was correct. Carver was not deficient for failing to name Blank as a defense witness in the first instance, because not calling her was consistent with the reasonable defense strategy to emphasize the State's failure to meet its burden. Carver had no reason to believe that Blank would have provided unique information to support that defense that could not have been elicited from Detective Jagla.

And even if Carver should have named Blank as a witness as a contingency plan, Thurber cannot demonstrate prejudice. As the circuit court noted, Carver would have had Blank state that cameras on the premises were not working, that she saw two vehicles enter American Mini Storage on the morning of the burglaries, that she communicated that to police, and that the police did not follow up. But Jagla provided all of that information. *See* 71:213 (stating that the back camera was not

working, that it stopped working on the night of the burglaries, and that Blank could not explain why the system stopped working); 71:214 (stating that the front gate video showed only two vehicles entering the facility before the burglaries occurred); 71:218 (stating that Blank told him of footage and stating that he did not investigate Lutzow).

Indeed, if Carver made any mistakes at trial, it was her seeking to have Blank testify based on her view at the time that she did not get the information she wanted out of Jagla. As Carver herself acknowledged at the *Machner* hearing, everything that she would have had Blank say was in the police report and in Jagla's testimony on cross-examination.

Finally, without Blank's testimony, the jury was left with an inference that planted seeds of reasonable doubt. Through Jagla, the jury learned that a key camera had suddenly stopped working without explanation just before the burglaries; that a working camera had shown two vehicles, including Lutzow's truck, entering the facility early in the morning of the burglaries, but police only followed up with one of them; that Lutzow had been accessing the non-working camera; and that police did not investigate Lutzow, the second vehicle, or anything else once Kent made his admissions. That provided the jury with the inference that someone, possibly Lutzow, had deactivated the key camera to burglarize the trailers, that Lutzow must have been involved because his pickup truck (and no other unexplained vehicle) had entered the facility, and that police simply dropped the ball by failing to investigate Lutzow or the pickup truck.

Blank's testimony would have weakened that inference in several ways. First, she clarified that the key camera stopped working because of an overarching power outage at the facility, which took months to address and required repairs to the underlying power grid. That testimony would have weakened the inference that the actual burglar or burglars broke or deactivated the camera to burglarize the motor homes. Second, she would have clarified that there were two additional ways for vehicles to enter and exit the facility other than the main gate, which would have eliminated the inference that the Lutzow's pickup truck necessarily was involved in the burglaries.

Thurber argues that Blank would have provided details about the positioning and visibility of the nonworking camera, which would have created an inference that experienced burglars such as Kent and Thurber would not have risked obvious detection (Thurber's br. at 36). But any inference<sup>4</sup> to that effect would have been undercut by Blank's explanation that the cameras would not have been visible in the darkness (74:12).

In sum, Thurber cannot demonstrate deficient performance or prejudice based on Carver's decision to not name Blank as a witness.

# 3. Carver was not ineffective for failing to have Lutzow testify.

Like Blank's testimony, Lutzow's testimony would have added nothing to the proceedings—and more likely would have hurt Thurber's defense. Hence, Carver was not ineffective for failing to call him to testify.

At a continuation of the *Machner* hearing, Lutzow testified that he was hired to install the camera security system after several previous break-ins had occurred at American Mini

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The potential strength of that inference is questionable at best. The jury could have likewise inferred that Kent and Thurber saw the cameras but guessed that they would not capture their actions in the dark; that they guessed that the cameras were simply deterrents; or that they were oblivious and that their past experiences as burglars did not necessarily mean that they were careful burglars.

Storage (75:5, 10). He stated that there was insufficient power and electricity to support the facility's needs and that those power issues were never resolved (75:8-10). He described the whole electrical system at the facility as "a mess" (75:19).

Lutzow said that it was not unusual for him to enter the facility in the early morning hours to work for a few hours on the installation, because it was easier without anyone else around and he figured that he could deter would-be burglars (75:10-12). Lutzow also confirmed that in addition to the main driveway, there was at least one other way for a vehicle to access the facility (75:15).

Like with Blank, Carver considered calling Lutzow as a witness for the case-in-chief but strategized that it was best to not do so (74:51). She knew that the jury would hear that Lutzow worked on the cameras, that he knew which cameras were working properly, and that police did not follow up with him, leaving it with an inference that he was possibly involved in the burglaries (74:51). In her view, bringing in Lutzow to explain why the cameras did not work would have weakened that inference (74:51-52). Further, not calling Lutzow as a witness was consistent with her strategy to emphasize the State's failure to meet its burden, not to suggest to the jury that Thurber had a burden to prove that someone else did it (74:68).

Carver's decision to not call Lutzow was neither deficient nor prejudicial. It was consistent with the defense strategy to simply emphasize the State's failure to meet its burden. Further, like with Blank, not having Lutzow testify retained the inference that there was a mysterious third party who had access to the facility, who had knowledge of the security cameras, and who police did not investigate. As Carver correctly noted, having Lutzow come in and explain the power situation at the facility would have weakened that inference.

Thurber argues that Lutzow would have helped Thurber's cause because when he first came in to testify at the *Machner* hearing, he refused to take the witness stand, invoked the Fifth Amendment, and asked the State to extend him immunity for his testimony (74:20-26) (Thurber's br. at 40). In Thurber's view, had the jurors seen that outburst, it would have strongly suggested that Lutzow had something to hide and instilled strong doubts in their minds that Thurber was the burglar (*id.*).

But as the circuit court noted, the jury would not have heard any such outburst from Lutzow: "The Court would not have allowed that to be presented in front of the jury. It would have certainly had the jury excused and would have addressed those immunity/5th Amendment type issues outside of the presence of the jury" (76:8-9).

Indeed, the conditions surrounding Lutzow's statements at the initial *Machner* hearing would not have been present at trial. As an initial matter, the State was unaware at the *Machner* hearing that Thurber intended to call Lutzow as a witness (74:25). Accordingly, it did not know what Lutzow would say or whether an offer of immunity was even necessary, let alone advisable. Lutzow did not appear at the hearing represented and did not appear to have talked to an attorney about his rights and scope of his testimony at the hearing (74:26-28).

The circuit court continued the *Machner* hearing to allow Lutzow time to consult with an attorney and with the district attorney's office (75:3). At the continuation, Lutzow testified about the camera setup and power issues at American Mini Storage without any apparent concerns about immunity or self-incrimination, or without any mention of the State having extended him immunity for his testimony.

Had Carver planned on Lutzow testifying at trial, she would have had to provide notice to the State. Accordingly, the State would have talked to Lutzow before trial, and presumably any concerns Lutzow had about his testimony would have been addressed well before he actually sat before the jury. In any event, as the court noted, it would not have permitted the jury to hear Lutzow's concerns and confusion over immunity and his Fifth Amendment rights.

Accordingly, Thurber cannot demonstrate deficient performance or prejudice based on Carver's decision to not name or call Lutzow as a witness.

# 4. Carver was not ineffective for not showing the surveillance video of two vehicles entering the facility to the jury.

Thurber next argues that Carver was ineffective for not obtaining and presenting to the jury the surveillance video showing only a Mercury Marquis and Lutzow's pickup truck entering the facility during the early morning hours before the burglary (Thurber's br. at 46).

At trial, Detective Jagla stated that the surveillance video showed a Marquis and pickup, but no other vehicles entering the facility (71:214-15). At the *Machner* hearing, Carver stated that she was aware that the videos were long and would have shown a Marquis and a pickup entering the facility (74:50-51). Given that, the circuit court concluded that Carver was not ineffective for failing to show the jury the video (76:11).

That conclusion was correct. The video would have shown only two cars entering the facility before the burglaries, a fact that Detective Jagla had acknowledged. Presenting the video would have added nothing. Accordingly, Thurber cannot demonstrate that Carver's performance in that regard was deficient or prejudicial.

### C. Carver adequately consulted with Thurber.

At the *Machner* hearing, Attorney Carver stated that Thurber was "a very active client compared to others[,] so knowledgeable and very communicative[,] and did assist in his

defense significantly more than other clients" (74:31). Carver estimated that she communicated with Thurber more than ten times in preparing for trial (74:62-63). She said that most of the communication with him was through letters, but that she also "met with him a couple of times" through videoconferencing at his institution (74:63-64). Carver testified that Thurber never complained to her about not communicating with him (74:32).

Carver testified that Thurber "was very adamant that he wanted to testify" (74:39). She stated that she generally discusses the pros and cons with defendants wishing to testify, and that there were pros and cons to Thurber testifying in this case, but could not recall her specific discussion on that matter with Thurber (74:40).

Thurber denied that he wanted to testify, that Carver convinced him to do so, and that he was "[v]ery surprised" when the State cross-examined him about his conduct during Outagamie burglaries he had committed with Kent (74:82-83). Thurber described his communications with Carver as limited, and the written communications as ineffective because he was dyslexic and needed face-to-face meetings (74:87-88, 90). He said that they only had one video conference a week before the trial (74:88). He said that Carver ignored his requests to subpoena Lutzow to testify (74:87, 89).

The circuit court found that Carver's testimony was credible, and that based on her statements that Thurber was an active client, that he was adamant about testifying, that there was significant written communication, and that she met with him over video conference, that there was adequate communication in this case (76:10-11).

That finding was not clearly erroneous and that conclusion was sound. Thurber suggests that had Carver met with Thurber more, or at least personally, he would have understood how damaging his own testimony would be (Thurber's br. at 47). But the circuit court found that Thurber

affirmatively wanted to testify. Indeed, the court engaged in a colloquy before Thurber testified, in which Thurber stated that he had adequate time and opportunity to talk with Carver about his decision to testify, that he had adequate time to think about his decision, and that she explained the advantages and disadvantages of doing so (72:48-49).

In sum, Thurber cannot demonstrate deficient performance or prejudice based on Carver's pre-trial communications with him.

#### D. There was no cumulative error.

Finally, Thurber argues that the above errors, taken together, were cumulatively ineffective and warrant a new trial (Thurber's br. at 47-48).

Simply because Thurber, in hindsight, can formulate many ways in which he believes that Carver was deficient does not persuade that Carver was actually deficient in any way. "When counsel focuses on some issues to the exclusion of others, there is a strong presumption that he did so for tactical reasons rather than through sheer neglect." *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). Indeed, counsel's "[f]ocusing on a small number of key points may be more persuasive than a shotgun approach." *Yarborough*, 540 U.S. at 7. Thurber fails to overcome the presumption that Carver's trial choices were strategic and the circuit court's unassailable conclusion that Carver engaged in a reasonable trial strategy.

And merely multiplying the number of allegations of ineffective assistance does not make up for a lack of merit in the individual claims. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶61. There cannot be cumulative prejudice when there is no prejudice to accumulate. *Estate of Hegarty v. Beauchaine*, 2006 WI App 248, ¶248, 297 Wis. 2d 70, 727 N.W.2d 857. "'Zero plus zero equals zero.'" *Id.* (quoting *Mentek v. State*, 71 Wis. 2d 799, 809, 238 N.W.2d 752 (1976)).

# II. The circuit court soundly exercised its discretion in excluding Blank as a witness.

As an alternative to his first ground of ineffective assistance of counsel, Thurber argues that the court erroneously exercised its discretion in excluding Blank as a witness when Carver sought to have her testify in Thurber's case-in-chief.

Carver did not identify Blank as a witness during discovery. *See* Wis. Stat. § 971.23(2m)(a). The court determined that Blank's testimony was not being offered for impeachment or rebuttal, but rather for Thurber's case in chief (72:40-46). Accordingly, it excluded Blank based on the notice violation, which it was well within its discretion to do.

Further, even if the preferred remedy for such violations is a continuance to allow the other party time to interview the witness, *Kutchera v. State*, 69 Wis. 2d 534, 542, 230 N.W.2d 750 (1975), the court's failure to grant such a continuance was harmless for the same reasons set forth in the ineffective assistance argument above. *See State v. Hilleshiem*, 172 Wis. 2d 1, 18, 492 N.W.2d 381 (Ct. App. 1992) (harmless error analysis applies to circuit court's erroneous decisions to exclude a witness) (citing *State v. Dyess*, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 543, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985)). As explained in more detail in Part I.B.2 above, Blank's testimony would have been cumulative to Detective Jagla's and possibly detrimental to Thurber's defense. Accordingly, any error by the court in excluding Blank as a witness did not prejudice Thurber. He is not entitled to relief.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks that this court affirm the judgment of conviction and the decision and order denying postconviction relief. Dated this 26th day of August, 2015.